FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/21/2017 3:35 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

N	lo.			
- 17	ıu.			

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 48278-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KENNETH FLYTE, as personal representative of THE ESTATE OF KATHRYN FLYTE, on behalf of their son JACOB FLYTE,

Respondents,

v.

### SUMMIT VIEW CLINIC,

#### Petitioner.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

BENNETT BIGELOW & LEEDOM, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith

WSBA No. 9542

By: Elizabeth A. Leedom WSBA No. 14335

## A. Identity of Petitioner and Decision Below.

Petitioner Summit View Clinic seeks review of Division Two's July 18, 2017 Opinion affirming the denial of a new trial and directing judgment in the full amount of the jury's verdict. (App. A) The Court of Appeals denied Summit View's timely motion for reconsideration on August 22, 2017. (App. B)

#### B. Issues Presented For Review.

- 1. Is it misconduct for plaintiffs' counsel to argue and elicit testimony that the defendant physician breached the standard of care, despite repeated, sustained objections and admonishments, and after voluntarily dismissing any negligence claim, causing the trial court to prohibit either party from bringing negligence into the case?
- 2. In an action solely for breach of the duty of informed consent, where neither party presents expert evidence on the standard of care, is defendant prejudiced by plaintiffs' repeated arguments that the physician's treatment breached the standard of care?
- 3. Should the jury on remand be instructed that fault can be allocated to a health care provider that settled before plaintiffs filed suit?

## C. Statement of the Case.

Division Two's opinion (App. A 1-27) and its previous decision reversing judgment on a defense verdict in the first trial, *Flyte v. Summit View Clinic*, 183 Wn. App. 559, 562-63, ¶¶ 3-4, 333 P.3d 566 (2014), set out the facts. Kathryn Flyte, age 27 and seven months pregnant, was seen by Dr. William Marsh at Summit View Clinic on

the morning of Friday, June 26, 2009. (RP 689, 733, 748, 815, 882) Ms. Flyte presented with wheezing, cough, aches, chills, sweats and fatigue – symptoms she said she had been suffering for the past three to five days – but her body temperature was normal (98.8 degrees) and she was otherwise "[w]ell appearing." (RP 741, 748-49, 863-64, 955) Plaintiffs' expert conceded that Dr. Marsh's diagnosis of an upper respiratory infection was a "reasonable working diagnosis." (RP 1046-47, 1058) Dr. Marsh testified (RP 872-73, 881, 902, 1494-96, 1565) that he ruled out influenza because Ms. Flyte did not have what the Center for Disease Control described at the time as the "hallmark" symptom required for an H1N1 (swine flu) diagnosis – a "fever of 100 degrees." (RP 1174, 1324, 1621-22, 1676)

The first probable cases of H1N1 had appeared in Pierce County in May 2009. (RP 831) On May 7, 2009, the CDC had notified healthcare providers that "currently based on clinical details and confirmed cases, 2009 H1N1 influenza virus causes mild illness similar to seasonal influenza." (RP 1185-86) There was no vaccine for H1N1; the CDC at the time recommended treating high-risk individuals, such as pregnant women, with Tamiflu, an antiviral that was effective only if taken within 48 hours of the onset of symptoms. (RP 889-90, 1115-16, 1188, 1623, 1628-29, 1769) While individuals exposed to H1N1 could

receive Tamiflu prophylactically during the early stages of the 2009 pandemic, supplies were limited and the Pierce County Health Department restricted prophylactic use to high-risk patients who had a household close contact of a confirmed or probable case of H1N1. (RP 875, 1182, 1539-41, 1560-61, 1737-38) **Ms. Flyte did not meet the criteria for prophylactic use of Tamiflu.** (RP 999-1001, 1048-49, 1194, 1738)

On Saturday, June 27, 2009, the day after she was seen at Summit View, Ms. Flyte went to St. Joseph Medical Center for an OB/GYN appointment. (RP 694) She left St. Joseph with no medications and was told to go to the emergency room if her illness got worse. (RP 694) On Monday morning, June 29, Ms. Flyte was admitted to Good Samaritan Hospital, where her condition deteriorated and she was placed in a medically induced coma. (RP 649-50, 696-98) See also 183 Wn. App. at 563, ¶ 4. Ms. Flyte was given Tamiflu on Thursday, July 2, the day she was diagnosed with H1N1 swine flu. (RP 703-04) Having never regained consciousness, Ms. Flyte died on August 11, 2009. 183 Wn. App. at 563, ¶ 4.

Represented by Lincoln Beauregard and Connelly Law Offices, Kathryn Flyte's surviving spouse and son settled with St. Joseph, where Ms. Flyte had been seen the day after her only visit to the Clinic, before commencing this lawsuit. (CP 405) The Flytes then sued Summit View for wrongful death, breach of the standard of care for failing to test for H1N1 or administer Tamiflu prophylactically, and breach of the duty of informed consent for failing to inform Ms. Flyte about the pandemic and available treatment. (CP 5, 11) A jury found by special verdict that the Clinic was not negligent and had not failed to obtain informed consent. 183 Wn. App. at 564, ¶ 8.

Division Two reversed, holding that the trial court's informed consent instruction misstated the law because it did not tell the jury that a physician's duty to disclose alternative treatments "is not confined to the period after a conclusive diagnosis has been made." 183 Wn. App. at 580, ¶ 43. Division Two also held that remand was necessary because the trial court had erred in admitting evidence of the Flytes' \$3.5 million settlement with St. Joseph under *Diaz v*. *State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 285 P.3d 873 (2012), which had been decided after trial. 183 Wn. App. at 566-67, ¶¶ 14-15.

The Flytes at the commencement of the second trial voluntarily dismissed any claim for breach of the standard of care, stipulating that "[t]he sole claim that will be pursued by the plaintiffs at trial is the alleged failure of Dr. Marsh to obtain Katie Flyte's informed consent, pursuant to RCW 7.70.030(3) and RCW 7.70.050." (CP 193-94; RP

12) Finding that any claim of medical negligence was now out of the case, the trial court granted Summit View's motion in limine to preclude presentation to the jury of any evidence regarding the Clinic's violation of standards of care. (Op. 12; RP 49-50) Summit View presented no expert testimony on its adherence to the standard of care, as it had in the first trial, based on plaintiffs' dismissal of any claim for medical negligence and consistent with the order in limine.

Plaintiffs' counsel did not respect the court's order that medical negligence was "out of the case," however. As Division Two sets out verbatim (App. A 12-18), over Summit View's repeated objections the Flytes sought to introduce evidence and argued to the jury that the Clinic had failed to meet the standard of care and was negligent. Plaintiffs' counsel asked one expert if he thought the Clinic had been "diligent" in response to information received about the swine flu pandemic (RP 1655-56), questioned another about whether Dr. Marsh's care of Ms. Flyte would have been different had he "taken the time to learn about the Tylenol" she had taken prior to her appointment (RP 1072), and whether he had any "criticism of what Summit View Clinic claims they did" (RP 1077-78) (emphases added), elicited testimony that Dr. Marsh should have "question[ed Ms. Flyte] about any of the symptoms" (RP 1953), and argued that

Dr. Marsh had been negligent in failing to test for and diagnose Ms. Flyte with H1N1. (See RP 971, 1251)

The trial court sustained most defense objections to these lines of questioning, and reminded the jury that the only claim at issue was for informed consent. (See RP 971, 1386, 1656) Prior to closing arguments, the trial court granted a defense motion to "[p]reclude the plaintiffs from arguing or inferring in their argument that Summit View Clinic was negligent . . . because there are no standard of care claims" (RP 1838-39) and explicitly "direct[ed plaintiffs' counsel] not to argue negligence." (RP 1839)

During closing, plaintiffs' counsel nevertheless continued to argue that the Clinic had been negligent:

- "[T]his was not a facility that was doing what their responsibilities were to make sure people were safe." (RP 2008)
- "If a facility is truly being diligent, they don't just lose critical health alerts." (RP 2008)
- "These particular systemic failures ... ha[d] an overall lack of preparedness and a breakdown in the safety net . . . . These are systemic failures that caused the issues here. These are systemic failures that could have been prevented." (RP 2008-09)
- "[N]obody ever caught the fact that Jacob was sick the week before with a temperature of 104 plus . . . . If the Summit View Clinic wasn't treating so many patients, maybe they would have caught that." (RP 2012)

- "This is a clinic that is treating too many people too quickly and missing critical information." (RP 2013)
- "The Summit View was way negligent, way negligent in this case." (RP 2109)
- "[I]f there's a representation that we don't think they were negligent, *that's not right*." (RP 2109) (emphasis added)

The trial court proved powerless to prevent plaintiffs' improper argument, merely delivering a wan reminder that "the claim is for a lack of informed consent" (RP 2009) and telling the jury "there's not a claim for negligence." (RP 2013-14)

To rebut plaintiffs' improper closing argument, Summit View attempted in its summation to bring the jury's focus back to the informed consent claim, pointing out that the Flytes had not asserted any claim for negligence and that plaintiffs' counsel had engaged in "misdirection in an effort to try to get you mad at Summit View Clinic ...". (RP 2048-52) The trial court initially overruled the Flytes' objection, because "[y]ou did raise it in your closing," but then directed Summit View's counsel to "avoid standard of care arguments" in the remainder of its closing argument. (RP 2051-53) Counsel complied.

On rebuttal, plaintiffs' counsel "doubled down," taking issue with the court's instructions and admonishments that the "claim is for a lack of informed consent" and that there was no claim of negligence for the jury to decide, telling the jury that Summit View "was way negligent, way negligent in this case," and disparaging the Clinic for suggesting it was not. (RP 2108-10) Summit View was once again forced to repeatedly object (RP 2108, 2109, 2110); the trial court sustained every objection and told the jury to "decide the case on the evidence and the instructions, not on personal opinions." (RP 2110)

After the jury returned a verdict of \$16.7 million (CP 627-28) Summit View moved for a new trial on the ground of misconduct. (CP 417-48) While the trial court agreed that plaintiffs had improperly argued a negligence case to the jury, it denied the motion on the ground that "the jury was told this is an informed consent case" (12/1 RP 33-34), and entered judgment for \$13.35 million, offsetting \$3.35 million of the Flytes' \$3.5 million settlement with St. Joseph from the jury's award. (CP 407, 630-31)

Division Two rejected Summit View's appeal and restored the full amount of the jury's verdict. Consistent with views expressed by the panel at oral argument, the Court in its opinion methodically set out many instances of plaintiffs' violation of the trial court's directive to refrain from arguing negligence to the jury. (App. A 12-18) The

¹ https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate trial courts/appellateDockets/in dex.cfm?fa=appellateDockets.showOralArgAudioList&courtId=ao2&dock etDate=20170120, beginning at minute 13:20.

Court then inexplicably characterized the misconduct as "aggressive advocacy" that was justified by Summit View pointing out to the jury in closing that negligence was not in the case:

While the Flytes' counsel asked multiple questions and argued about the Clinic's quality of care and its operations, it appears from the record that counsel did not ask knowingly objectionable questions and properly reformed his questions upon the Clinic's sustained objections. The Flytes' counsel's comment that the Clinic was "way negligent" on rebuttal was a direct response to the Clinic's argument that had the Clinic been negligent, the Flytes would have raised a negligence claim. Accordingly, the Clinic fails to show that the Flytes' counsel's actions were misconduct and not merely aggressive advocacy.

(App. A 18)

# D. Argument Why This Court Should Grant Review.

1. Division Two's characterization of counsel's repeated violation of trial court orders as "aggressive advocacy" rather than misconduct conflicts with decisions of this Court and encourages contempt for the judicial process. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4))

The Court of Appeals' characterization as mere "aggressive advocacy" repeated violations of the order in limine and of express admonitions to refrain from arguing negligence conflicts with recent cases from this Court and will breed contempt of orders governing the presentation of evidence and scope of permitted argument. This Court has forcefully rejected the notion that counsel during a jury trial may

"elicit testimony regarding subjects that the court had ruled inadmissible or irrelevant" and "[p]ersistently ask[] knowingly objectionable questions..." without consequence. *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 223-24, ¶¶ 30-32, 274 P.3d 336 (2012). Such blatant disregard of judicial authority is not "aggressive advocacy" but misconduct, requiring a new trial under CR 59(b)(2). This Court should accept review to require adherence to the standards of ethical advocacy it adopted in *Teter*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This Court held in *Teter* that it was misconduct for counsel "to elicit testimony regarding subjects that the court had ruled inadmissible or irrelevant," 174 Wn.2d at 223, ¶ 32, and to disregard the trial court's rulings preventing speaking objections. 174 Wn.2d at 224, ¶ 33. The Court took special note of the corrosive effect of such misconduct, which "places opposing counsel in the position of having to make constant objections. These repeated objections, even if sustained, leave the jury with the impression that the objecting party is hiding something important." *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 223, ¶ 30 (citations omitted). To guard against rewarding it, this Court held that "[m]isconduct that continues after warnings can give rise to a conclusive implication of prejudice." *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 223, ¶ 30.

Division Two gave lip service to these standards (App. A 12) but did not apply them. The trial court here entered an order in limine, but went further, expressly directing plaintiffs not to argue negligence. (RP 1839) Plaintiff counsel's repeated improper questions and argument, even after the trial court's rulings and warnings, were indisputably "knowing," and should have given rise "to a conclusive implication of prejudice" mandating a new trial under CR 59(b)(2). Instead, Division Two rewrote the order of events at trial by excusing counsel's misconduct on the ground that his argument that the Clinic was "way negligent" was a proper "direct response" to the defense closing. (App. A 18; see Petition 9, supra)

More importantly, Division Two failed to recognize that a party is not required to stand mute in the face of repeated reference to inadmissible and prejudicial evidence, or to facts or allegations that are collateral to the issues properly in the case. Division Two's absolution of plaintiff counsel's misconduct on the grounds that the defense had "asked for it" conflicts with *Taylor v. Intuitive Surgical, Inc.*, 187 Wn.2d 743, 766, ¶ 47, 389 P.3d 517 (2017) ("when one party opens the door to a topic, the other party may also introduce evidence in order to establish the truth for the jury"); *see also Warren v. Hart*, 71 Wn.2d 512, 516, 429 P.2d 873 (1967) ("counsel was entitled to

counter or correct the unfavorable implications arising from [opponent's] presentation to the jury of statements and opinions collateral to the issues of the case").

Division Two's reliance on the trial court's ineffectual reiteration of its "reminder" that the case was about informed consent as sufficient to cure the corrosive effect of relying on evidence the court has deemed inadmissible also conflicts with Miller v. Staton, 64 Wn.2d 837, 840, 394 P.2d 799 (1964). There, defense counsel engaged in misconduct by asking the personal injury plaintiff about her relationship with a man 30 years earlier, offering "no excuse for such a line of questioning, apparently relying upon his withdrawal of the question upon the objection of plaintiff's counsel and the instruction by the trial court that the jury was to disregard it." Miller, 64 Wn.2d at 839. Despite the trial court's curative instruction, this Court reversed and granted a new trial, holding that "the incident must still be considered as a major element in the overall decision as to whether the plaintiff received a fair trial before an impartial and unprejudiced jury." *Miller*, 64 Wn.2d at 840; see also Warren, 71 Wn.2d at 518-19 (granting new trial because no argument or instruction could have cured "flagrant misconduct" in closing argument). Plaintiffs' counsel engaged in similar tactics here,

repeatedly withdrawing or rephrasing questions about the standard of care after the trial court sustained defense objections. (*See, e.g.*, RP 1077-78, 1385-86, 1655-57, 1778)

Division Two's characterization of plaintiff counsel's disregard for the trial court's rulings as mere "aggressive advocacy" in an opinion that sets out, in detail, the instances of counsel's misconduct breeds contempt for the judicial system, inviting and providing a template for the very misconduct that this Court criticized so strongly in *Teter*, and that the Court of Appeals in other recent cases has refused to countenance. For instance, in Gilmore v. Jefferson County Pub. Transp. Benefit Area, 198 Wn. App. 1056, 2017 WL 1477830 (Apr. 25, 2017) (unpublished), Division Two reversed a verdict for plaintiff and ordered a new trial based on counsel's "inflammatory arguments [that] appealed to the passion of the jurors when she repeatedly called upon the jurors to help Gilmore 'fight the government'," comparing the transit system's defense of a personal injury claim to a "cover up" and the perpetration of a "fraud" akin to "how the government murders innocent people . . . [and] gets away with it." 2017 WL 1477830, at \*12 (alteration in original).

The Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with *Teter*, *Warren*, and *Miller*, and is impossible to reconcile with Division Two's

own decision in *Gilmore* — particularly because here, Summit View's counsel timely and repeatedly objected, and the misconduct was not, and could not have been, cured by the trial court's mild reminders to the jury that the case was about informed consent. By characterizing as "mere aggressive advocacy" arguments and conduct it deemed so prejudicial that no objection could have cured it in *Gilmore*, Division Two has muddied the standards for ethical advocacy and encouraged "aggressive" counsel to disregard orders limiting admissible evidence and argument, fostering a culture where only the jury's verdict matters, no matter how it was achieved. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. The Court of Appeals blurs the critical distinction between a physician's breach of the standard of care and duty to obtain the patient's informed consent to treatment, raising a significant issue of public interest for this Court's review. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4))

While plaintiff counsel's repeated violations of the order in limine and express admonitions to refrain from arguing negligence are reason enough to reverse, the Court of Appeals decision further blurs the important distinction between claims for medical negligence and alleging breach of the duty of informed consent, allowing a jury to find "fault" and award damages in the absence of any expert evidence that a physician breached the applicable standard of care. In rewarding counsel's misconduct, Division Two also unwisely eroded RCW ch. 7.70's legislatively-mandated distinction between these discrete theories available to plaintiffs seeking "damages for injury occurring as a result of health care," which requires proof that "injury resulted from the failure of a health care provider to follow the accepted standard of care" or "[t]hat injury resulted from health care to which the patient or his or her representative did not consent." RCW 7.70.030(1), (3).

A claim under RCW 7.70.030(1) for breach of the standard of care focuses on the defendant's conduct — specifically, whether the "health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider at that time in the profession or class to which he or she belongs, in the state of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances." RCW 7.70.040(1). The defendant's breach of the standard of care and causation must be proven by expert testimony. *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370-71, ¶¶ 28-30, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

By contrast, a claim under RCW 7.70.030(3) for breach of the duty of informed consent focuses not on the physician's actions, but on the right of a patient to be informed of all material facts concerning treatment. *Backlund v. University of Washington*, 137 Wn.2d 651, 659-68, 975 P.2d 950 (1999). The plaintiff must establish that the

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