FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/29/2017 1:05 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95022-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KENNETH FLYTE, as personal representative of THE ESTATE OF KATHRYN FLYTE, on behalf of their son JACOB FLYTE, and as personal representative of THE ESTATE OF ABIGAIL FLYTE,

Respondents,

v.

SUMMIT VIEW CLINIC, a Washington corporation,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lincoln C. Beauregard WSBA #32878 Julie A. Kays WSBA #30385 Connelly Law Offices 2301 North 30th Street Tacoma, WA 98403 (253) 593-0377 Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW 3rd Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

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

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

In addressing Summit's petition, it is important for this Court to note the issues Summit has now abandoned on review, and the standard of review pertinent to the issues it now chooses to present to this Court. Consistent with its last ditch effort to overturn the jury's verdict against it, for example, Summit spent considerable time making a spurious juror misconduct argument that Division II properly rejected. Op. at 6-11. Similarly, it argued that the jury's verdict was excessive, another argument Division II readily rejected. Op. at 21-24. Neither argument is raised in Summit's petition and they are therefore not before this Court. RAP 13.7(b); *Xieng v. Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wash.*, 120 Wn.2d 512, 518, 844 P.2d 389 (1993)

("Issues not raised in a petition for review are not considered."). As for the standard of review, that will be discussed in connection with each issue *infra*.

(1) Summit's Argument on Counsel Misconduct Was Properly
Rejected by Division II and It Fails to Present Any Reasons
for this Court to Review that Decision

In its effort to overturn the jury's verdict, Summit repeats its attack on Flyte's trial counsel, an argument it did not properly preserve and that is meritless in any event. Pet. at 9-14. There was no "misconduct" here by Flyte's trial counsel, who were aggressive in their advocacy, as was Summit's defense team. In response to specific objections in the course of a long, hard-fought trial, the trial court made evidentiary rulings about which Summit has not specifically assigned error. Moreover, the trial court, who is closest to the jury's deliberations, saw no basis to conclude that the jury was in any way prejudiced by the conduct of Flyte's counsel when it denied Summit's post-trial motion for a new trial. RP (12/1/15):33-34; CP 679-80. Moreover, Division II discerned no abuse of discretion in the trial court's decision, carefully applying this Court's authorities on counsel

misconduct. Op. at 11-20.³ In honoring those authorities, Division II's unpublished opinion does not merit review. RAP 13.4(b).⁴

As will be discussed in greater detail *infra*, the gravamen of Summit's claim of counsel misconduct is that Flyte's trial counsel sought to introduce evidence and make argument more relevant to a claim of medical negligence than one of lack of informed consent. For the reasons discussed *infra*, the line between the evidence relevant to these claims is not necessarily precise. The trial court, however, was vigilant in policing the distinction, sustaining evidentiary objections where appropriate. Op. at 12-16. Sustaining objections, however, does not equate to misconduct of counsel sufficient to compel a new trial.

In one instance, Flyte's counsel mentioned Summit's "negligence" in rebuttal in closing, but that was in response to *Summit's counsel having improperly surfaced the issue* by stating: "Don't you think that if there were claims of negligence, they would have been brought to you for consideration[?]." RP 2052; Op. at 17. Flyte was entitled to respond to

³ A trial court has broad discretion in connection with motions for a new trial. *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 215, 274 P.3d 336 (2012). *See also, Hollins v. Zbaraschuk*, __ Wn. App. __, __ P.3d __, 2017 WL 4273989 (2017) (rejecting contention that *de novo* review governed granting of new trial).

⁴ Summit has limited its argument on putative counsel misconduct to the alleged attempt to bring negligence evidence or argument to the jury. Below, it asserted that counsel made a "Golden Rule" argument to effectively seek punitive damages from the jury. Division II rejected that argument. Op. at 20-21. Summit does not raise that argument in its petition, abandoning it. RAP 13.7(b).

Summit's own raising of the negligence issue. *Taylor v. Intuitive Surgical, Inc.*, 187 Wn.2d 743, 766, 389 P.3d 517 (2017) (when party opens the door to an issue, the opposing party is entitled to respond).

In any event, even if Flyte's counsel was too aggressive in presenting the evidence here (and that is not so), the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a motion for a new trial. Division II applied well-established principles established by this Court to measure if counsel misconduct requires a new trial. *Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co.*, 140 Wn.2d 517, 998 P.2d 856 (2000); *Teter, supra.* Those cases require a party to demonstrate that there was a substantial likelihood that any alleged misconduct prejudiced the jury's verdict. *Alcoa*, 140 Wn.2d at 539. Moreover, to preserve any alleged error as to counsel misconduct, a party must expeditiously object to any alleged misconduct, file a motion for a mistrial, or seek a curative instruction to the jury. As the *Alcoa* court noted at 539: "the trial court's issuance of a curative instruction may obviate the need for a new trial, even if there is misconduct. *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 226. While Summit objected to the isolated possible references

⁵ As this Court observed in *Teter*, a motion for a mistrial is ordinarily necessary to preserve a claim of counsel misconduct unless the misconduct is so flagrant that no curative instruction can cure it. 174 Wn.2d at 225-26. The isolated references in the examination of witnesses or closing here did not constitute misconduct, let alone flagrant misconduct, that could not have been cured by an instruction to the jury.

to facts that might support a negligence argument, it did not file a mistrial motion nor did it seek a curative instruction at any time during the closing arguments to the jury despite the repeated, often baseless, objections by Summit's counsel during Flyte's counsel's closing arguments. RP 2000-2117. Division II properly reviewed the trial court's determination that Summit was not deprived of a fair trial for an abuse of discretion. Op. at 11. Division II appropriately considered both the isolated references at trial to matters that might bear on negligence, as well as counsel's closing argument. Op. at 12-18. With regard to these events, they were plainly isolated events over the course of nearly a month-long trial. In each instance, the trial court appropriately addressed the objections.

The jury is presumed to understand and follow trial court rulings. Diaz v. State, 175 Wn.2d 457, 474, 285 P.3d 873 (2012) ("Washington courts have, for years, firmly presumed that jurors follow the court's instructions."). In Diaz, this Court held that the jury must be presumed to have heeded a trial court curative instruction to disregard certain evidence.⁶ The jury here was therefore presumed not to have considered any facts more relevant to a negligence, rather than an informed consent, argument.

⁶ The Court also noted in rejecting an argument for a new trial involving a "minor feature of a fairly lengthy trial" (175 Wn.2d at 460) that had been previously tried twice before, that it did not "check our common sense at the door" in rejecting a bid for a new trial. Id. at 474.

Moreover, as for any possible prejudice to Summit's right to a fair trial, the case was tried before the Honorable Ronald Culpepper, a seasoned Pierce County trial judge. The trial court discerned no prejudice to Summit's interest in denying its motion for a new trial. In analyzing the existence of any prejudice, our courts defer to trial courts' assessment of the existence of any prejudice because they are "close to the action," having seen the witnesses, the conduct of counsel, and juror reactions "up close and personal." *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 223; *see also, Taylor v. Cessna Aircraft Co., Inc.*, 39 Wn. App. 828, 832, 696 P.2d 28, *review denied*, 103 Wn.2d 1040 (1985); *Levea v. G. A. Gray Corp.*, 17 Wn. App. 214, 226, 562 P.2d 1276, *review denied*, 89 Wn.2d 1010 (1977). Appellate courts do not "substitute

The misconduct by Mr. Beauregard that's alleged by the defense, he did say some things that could have been thought of as arguing negligence. I kind of agree with that. The phrase about "they were way negligent," however, was in rebuttal to Ms. Leedom in her closing saying that negligence isn't an issue, something like that, so he was rebutting that.

The complaints about system failures and the failure to have proper protocol in a sense were negligence arguments, but again, the jury was told this is an informed consent case. They were given instructions on informed consent. That's all they were instructed on. They were told to follow the instructions. I don't have any reason to think they didn't follow the instructions.

So if there was misconduct by Mr. Beauregard, if, I don't see that it really affected the jury's verdict. I assume they followed their instructions and disregarded improper argument.

RP (12/1/15):33-34.

⁷ The trial court stated:

our own judgment for the trial court's judgment in evaluating the scope and effect of [any alleged] misconduct." *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 226. Review is not merited on this issue. RAP 13.4(b).⁸

(2) <u>Summit's Argument Regarding Informed Consent and Medical Negligence Is Baseless and Was Not Raised</u>

Summit concocts an entirely new theory in seeking review by this Court, contending that Division II's opinion allegedly "blurs" the distinction between informed consent and medical negligence in RCW 7.70. Pet. at 14-19. This argument is not only baseless, as will be noted *infra*, it was never raised below. It is nothing but a backdoor attempt to raise an argument belied by the facts and procedure below; the jury was properly instructed on informed consent in any event, as Summit *conceded* by not assigning error below to the instructions on informed consent. Br. of Appellant at 2-3.

First, the jury was properly instructed on informed consent in three separate instructions. Instructions 8 and 10 set forth the law on informed consent. *See* Appendix. As noted *supra*, Summit *concedes* that the jury was properly instructed on the law as it never assigned error to those instructions. The jury was not instructed on medical negligence. CP 197-

⁸ This Court recently denied review in *Clark v. Teng*, 195 Wn. App. 482, 380 P.3d 173 (2016), *review denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1018 (2017), another case in which an argument of counsel allegedly violated an order on a motion in limine.

216. In fact, it was specifically instructed by Instruction 11 on the difference between a negligent misdiagnosis and informed consent. Summit did not assign error to it. Thus, the "blurring" Summit claims never occurred anywhere in the presentation of the law by the trial court to the jury.

Second, Summit never made this argument to Division II. *Nowhere* in its opening or reply brief is the issue addressed. Tellingly, Division II's lengthy and thorough, unpublished opinion never addresses the issue at all, further reinforcing the fact that Summit raised the issue for the first time in its petition. That is too late. RAP 2.5(a); *Carrera v. Olmstead*, ___ Wn.2d __, 401 P.3d 304, 307 n.3 (2017).

Finally, the putative issue is meritless in any event. Division II's opinion faithfully preserves the proper distinction between informed consent and medical negligence claims under RCW 7.70. Summit

A physician who has not conclusively diagnosed a particular illness may have a duty to disclose information related to the treatment of that illness if the information is reasonably needed by the patient to make an informed decision about treatment. '

When a physician rules out a particular diagnosis based on the circumstances surrounding a patient's condition, there is no duty to inform the patient on treatment options pertaining to a ruled out diagnosis.

CP 210.

⁹ Instruction 11 stated:

incorrectly presumes that the evidence pertinent to medical negligence and informed consent can be artificially sealed from another in any event.

Breach of the standard of care and failure to secure informed consent are alternative methods for establishing the liability of a medical professional to a patient. *Backlund v. Univ. of Wash.*, 137 Wn.2d 651, 659-60, 975 P.2d 950 (1999). To establish a claim of failure to secure informed consent against a medical professional, RCW 7.70.050(1) sets for the elements of an informed consent claim:

- (a) That the health care provider failed to inform the patient of a material fact or facts relating to the treatment;
- (b) That the patient consented to the treatment without being aware of or fully informed of such material fact or facts;
- (c) That a reasonably prudent patient under similar circumstances would not have consented to the treatment if informed or such material fact or facts;
- (d) That the treatment in question proximately caused injury to the patient.

RCW 7.70.050 (2) indicates what facts are "material" to a patient:

- (a) The nature and character of the treatment proposed and administered;
- (b) The anticipated results of the treatment proposed and administered;
- (c) The recognized possible alternative forms of treatment; or

(d) The recognized serious possible risks, complications, and anticipated benefits involved in the treatment administered and in the recognized possible alternative forms of treatment, including nontreatment.

As can be seen from these statutory elements of an informed consent claim, the evidence necessary to prove these elements and the elements of a medical negligence claim will often be the same. This Court has recognized that although these claims are distinct, the evidence to prove them may "overlap." Gomez v. Sauerwein, 180 Wn.2d 610, 617, 331 P.3d 19 (2014). Inherent in the nature of these alternative methods of proving medical professional liability, particularly in discussing material facts to which the patient is entitled in determining if informed consent was secured, causation, and harm, there will be some cross-over in the evidence necessary to prove the elements. From a practical standpoint, evidence at trial on a misdiagnosis, for example, necessary to prove a breach of the standard of care, will often be necessary in an informed consent case to document the materiality of the risk to the patient, a necessary element of informed consent. There may be instances in which a duty to inform arises from the professional's diagnostic activities, even though the failure to properly diagnose a condition and to secure informed consent are discrete. Gomez, 180 Wn.2d at 623; Gates v. Jensen, 92 Wn.2d 246, 248, 595 P.2d 919 (1979); Flyte, 183 Wn. App. at 574-77 (Summit had a duty to disclose

swine flu pandemic and the treatment option of prescribing Tamiflu). There was no "misconduct" by trial counsel in presenting evidence relevant to Flyte's informed consent claim here, particularly where the trial court was vigilant in policing the evidence.

Division II recounted the instances in which evidence pertinent to a medical negligence claim was allegedly referenced in the examination of witnesses and in closing. Op. at 12-18. These isolated instances in a lengthy trial were appropriately addressed by the trial court upon objection. The lines between "medical negligence" and "informed consent" were not blurred by Division II's opinion, as Summit contends. They were carefully maintained. The experienced trial judge here properly instructed the jury on this "overlap" between negligence and informed consent in Instruction 11, to which Summit never objected. The court also handled the evidence properly, being attentive to distinctions between evidence on informed consent and negligence, upholding objections where necessary. No "blurring" of the claims occurred, despite Summit's belated contrary assertion.

Review is not merited on this issue both because it is not properly before the Court, and because it is meritless. RAP 13.4(b).

(3) The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Several Liability Principles under RCW 4.22.070 in Addressing Any Offset Summit offers exactly one paragraph in its petition to address Division II's opinion on several liability and the offset to which was not entitled for the Flytes' settlement with Franciscan that operated St. Joseph Medical Center where Kathryn and Abbigail were treated. Pet. at 19-20. Summit fails to document how Division II incorrectly applied several liability principles, nor can it. It does not claim anywhere in its petition that joint and several liability applied here. Pet. at 19-20. Review of this issue is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

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